United States Court of Appeals

Fifth Circuit
FILED
IN THE UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE FI FTH CIRCUI T June 11, 2003

Charles R. Fulbruge llI
Clerk

No. 02-10719

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA,

Pl ai ntiff-Appellee,
vVer sus
| NCREASE EBONG | SANG,

Def endant - Appel | ant.

Appeal fromthe United States District Court
for the Northern District of Texas
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Bef ore WENER and CLEMENT, Circuit Judges and LITTLE, District
Judge. ”

PER CURI AM **

Def endant - Appel | ant | ncrease Ebong Isang, an illegal alien,
appeals his jury conviction for uttering a forged security in
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 513(a), contending that the evidence was
insufficient to support his conviction, that he was entitled to a
m strial on grounds of prosecutorial m sconduct, and that, even if
his conviction is affirnmed, the portion of his sentence requiring

restitution should be vacated. W affirm

Honorable F. A Little, Jr., District Judge of the Wstern
District of Louisiana, sitting by designation.

Pursuant to 5THCR R 47.5, the court has determ ned that
this opinion should not be published and is not precedent except
under the limted circunstances set forth in 5THCQR R 47.5. 4.



| . Fact and Proceedi ngs

| sang was indicted on two counts of meking, possessing, or
uttering a forged or counterfeit security of an organization, in
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 513. Evidence adduced by the governnent
at trial showed that |Isang used aliases and false identifications
t o open “doi ng busi ness as” accounts at Washi ngton Mutual Bank into
whi ch he deposited forged or counterfeit checks drawn on accounts
mai nt ai ned i n other banks by Coca-Cola North Anerica (“Coke”) and
the Dallas Area Rapid Transit Authority (“DART”). In a third
count, Isang was charged with illegal re-entry subsequent to a
felony conviction, in violation of 8 U S.C. § 1326.

After the governnment presented its case, |sang noved for
judgnent of acquittal under Federal Rule of Crimnal Procedure 29
(Rule 29), which the district court denied. | sang put on no
defense, and the jury found himguilty on all counts.

Isang filed objections to the Probation Departnent’s
Presentence I nvestigation Report (PSR). One of Isang s objections
opposed upward departure. Wen, at sentencing, the district court
deni ed t he governnent’s upward departure notion, |sang w t hdrew al
remai ni ng objections to the PSR

In addition to inprisonnent and supervised rel ease, |sang’'s
sentence included an order of restitution totaling in excess of
$85, 000, payable to Conpass Bank and Wells Fargo Bank. | sang
tinely filed a notice of appeal.

1. Analysis
2



At the close of the governnent’s case |Isang noved for a
j udgnent of acquittal, contending that the governnent had failed to
adduce sufficient evidence to prove each elenent of the crines
char ged beyond a reasonabl e doubt. Defense counsel’s insufficiency
nmotion was broadly general but was followed by a particularized
chal l enge to the sufficiency of the proof of Isang’s involvenent in
the alleged offenses — an “identity” chall enge. In contrast,
| sang’ s counsel never nentioned the sufficiency of evidence to
prove that the organizations whose securities were forged or
counterfeited net the interstate commerce element of 8§ 513. The
gover nnment urges appel |l ate revi ew under the standard pronounced in

United States v. Herrera,! which was decided after Isang’'s tria

and after the district court’s denial of his Rule 29 notion; |sang
urges review under our pre-Herrera “any rational trier of fact”

standard.? As we conclude that, under United States v. Chappell,?3

the evidence is sufficient to support each elenent of the crineg,
irrespective of which standard of review is applied, we need not

deci de whether Herrera applies to this case.

1313 F.3d 882 (5th Cr. 2002)(en banc).

2 United States v. Daniel, 957 F.2d 162, 164 (5th Cir. 1992)
(articulating the standard as “whether, after view ng the evidence
inthe light nost favorable to the verdict, any rational trier of
fact could have found the essential elenents of the of fense beyond
a reasonabl e doubt”).

36 F.3d 1095 (5th Gir. 1993).
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We are satisfied that, even under the nore defendant-friendly,
pre-Herrera standard of review for sufficiency of the evidence,
each elenent of the crinmes charged — including the requirenent
that the organi zations in question be |legal entities operating in
i nterstate conmerce or conducting activities that affect interstate
comerce —— is adequately supported by record evidence,
irrespective of the fact that the governnent did not parade an
array of witnesses to testify to the obvious, i.e., the interstate
aspects of each organization's activities. I f nothing else,
Chappell teaches that securities can belong to nore than one
organi zati on, such as the bank and its account owner, and, at | east
by i nplication, that banks are, per se, 8 513(c)(4) organi zations.*

As for Isang’s claimof entitlement to a mstrial based on
prosecutorial m sconduct, we are not persuaded. Hi s objection to
the prosecutor’s closing argunent statenent in rebuttal —“That
thing about the INS deal is the biggest red herring thing |I have
seen in ny lifer — was followed imediately by the district
court’s statenents in open court sustaining |Isang’s objection,
| abel i ng t he prosecution argunent as i nperm ssi ble, and i nstructing
the jury to disregard it. In denying Isang’s notion for a
mstrial, the district court expressly reliedonits instructionto
the jury; and the governnent pointed to trial exhibits show ng t hat

| sang was actually deported within the contested tinme period. W

4 1d. at 1099.



discern no reversible error in the court’s disposition of the
matter.

Finally, Isang’s conpl ai nt about the court’s restitution order
——whi ch was not objected to in the district court —is revi ewed
for plain error, as conceded by Isang. It is true that |Isang’s PSR
recommended restitution under the Mandatory Victi mRestitution Act

of 1996 (MVRA)® and that, in United States v. Mancillas,® we held

that “a defendant sentenced under the provisions of the MVRA is

only responsible for restitution for the conduct underlying the
of fenses for which he has been convicted.”’” Despite the PSR s
recomendation that restitution be inposed pursuant to the MRA
however, the record of the sentencing hearing contains no nention
of the MRA Wen the district court ordered restitution,
admttedly to two banks that were not involved in the transactions
underlying the offenses of conviction, it nade no representation
that it was ordering restitution under the MVRA, and no reference
to the MVRA is reflected by the record.

Ceneral |l y, when defendants are convicted for commerci al crines
like those at issue here, and have both intended and created
significant losses to victins, the court has wde latitude in

assessing restitution, as to both the anount and recipients of the

®> 18 U.S.C. § 3663A (2000).

6172 F.3d 341 (5th Cr. 1999).

" 1d. at 343 (enphasis added).
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restitution. Thus, even if we were to infer that the district

court inposed restitution under the WRA sub silentio, and were to

agree wwth at least two other circuits that ordering a defendant to
pay restitution to parties that were not inplicated directly in the
of fense of conviction constitutes plain error,® our task stil

woul d not be at an end. The existence of plain error is only the
penul timate determ nation: Once such error is found to exist, we
still nust determne (1) whether it affects a substantial right of
the defendant, i.e., whether such error’s effect on the
proceedi ng’ s outcone has prejudi ced the defendant, and (2) whet her
the nature of the error warrants relief.® |f the defendant cannot
show that the plain error’s effect on his substantial rights has
prejudiced him no renedy is available. Furthernore, when the
def endant’ s substantial rights have been affected by plain error,
the decision whether to correct such error remains within the
di scretion of the appellate court.! And, we are instructed by the

Suprene Court that such correction should be made only when the

8 See United States v. Tunning, 69 F. 2d 107, 115-16 (6th Cr
1995); United States v. Wainwight, 938 F.2d 1096, 1098-99 (10th
Cr. 1991).

 United States v. Calverley, 37 F.3d 160, 164 (5th Cir.
1994) (en banc).

lOId

] d.



error seriously affects the fairness, integrity, or public

reputation of judicial proceedings.?'?

Both the harmintended and the harm actually caused by | sang
greatly exceeded the $85,576.04 that the district court inposed as
restitution. Even if we assune w thout conceding that restitution
was inplicitly assessed under the MVRA and that plain error thus
occurred, we conclude that Isang has failed to denonstrate that
this putative plain error affected his substantial rights to the
extent of prejudice, much less justifies our correcting such error
inthe face of the high hurdle of the “seriously affects” standard.
For these reasons, we decline to disturb the trial court’s
restitution order.

| sang’ s conviction and sentence are, in all respects,

AFFI RVED.

2 1d. (citing United States v. Atkinson, 297 U S. 157, 160
(1936)).




